
 

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your iPad, Android Device 
or Blackberry Playbook.  For information relating to this meeting or to request a 

copy in another format or language please contact: 
Lisa Antrobus, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  

 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk  

(1) 

 
 

Thursday, 23 July 2020 
 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
 

A meeting of Standards Committee will be held on 
 

Friday, 31 July 2020 
 

commencing at 9.30 am 
 

The meeting will be held remotely via Zoom (the links to the meeting are set out below)  
 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87205546549?pwd=dHJ1MFNRNDJoanhYbFYwYlIwRFkrUT09 

 
Meeting ID: 872 0554 6549  Password: 367969 

 
One tap mobile 
+442034815240,87205546549#,0#,367969# United Kingdom 
+441314601196,87205546549#,0#,367969# United Kingdom 

 
Dial by your location 
+44 203 481 5240 United Kingdom 
+44 203 481 5237 United Kingdom 

 
Meeting ID: 872 0554 6549  Password: 367969 

 
 

Members of the Committee 

Councillor Mandy Darling 

Councillor Doggett 

Councillor Chris Lewis 

Councillor Loxton 

Councillor Mills 

Councillor Morey 

Councillor David Thomas 

 

 

 

A prosperous and healthy Torbay 

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87205546549?pwd=dHJ1MFNRNDJoanhYbFYwYlIwRFkrUT09


(2) 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Election of Chairman  
 To elect a Chairman for the meeting. 

 
2.   Apologies  
 To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

3.   Declarations of interest 
 

 

(a)   To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 
items on this agenda 

 

 For reference:  Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on the 
matter in question.  A completed disclosure of interests form should 
be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 

(b)   To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect 
of items on this agenda 

 

 For reference:  Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of the 
item.  However, the Member may remain in the meeting to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence if the public 
have a right to do so, but having done so the Member must then 
immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and must not 
improperly seek to influence the outcome of the matter.  A 
completed disclosure of interests form should be returned to the 
Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting. 
 
(Please Note:  If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on any 
potential interests they may have, they should contact Governance 
Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.) 
 

4.   Urgent items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
5.   Model Code of Conduct Briefing Paper (Pages 3 - 29) 
 To provide responses to the consultation on the Model Code of 

Conduct. 
 



 

Meeting:  Standards Committee Date:  31 July 2020 
 
Wards Affected:  All 
 
Report Title:  Model Code of Conduct Briefing Paper  
 
Is the decision a key decision? No 
 
When does the decision need to be implemented?  Before consultation closes on 
17 August 2020 
 
Supporting Officer Contact Details:  Anne-Marie Bond, Director of Corporate 
Services, (01803) 207015 and anne-marie.bond@torbay.gov.uk 

 
Background 
 
On 30 January 2020 the Committee on Standards in Public Life published a report 
on Local Government Ethical Standards: A Review by the Committee on Standards 
in Public Life (link to report provided below).  The review made a number of 
recommendations, whilst the majority of the recommendations were for the 
Government to consider, the Local Government Association (LGA) was asked to act 
upon the following:   
 
“The Local Government Association should create an updated model code of 
conduct, in consultation with representative bodies of Councillors and officers of all 
tiers of local government in consultation with representatives of following the 
recommendations of the Committee of Standards in Public Life report publishes on 
30 January 20119” 
 
The LGA has duly updated the model code of conduct and has forwarded a copy to 
us, with a consultation questionnaire for Members of the Standards Committee to 
comment or provide a view on. 
 
How does the model Code of Conduct vary from our own?  This is an update and 
given that our own Members Code of Conduct was based upon the original model 
Code of Conduct our code is not too dissimilar.   
 
The updated model code attempts to square off the use of social media, the 
Committee on Standards in Public Life have recommended to Government that 
councillors should be presumed to be acting in an official capacity in their public 
conduct, including statements on publicly accessible social media. Section 27(2) of 
the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to permit local authorities to presume so 
when deciding upon code of conduct breaches.  The Council in the past have 
received complaints about comments members have made on social media, such an 
amendment would result in an automatic assumption that you were acting in your 
capacity as an elected member regardless of whether the social media account was 
set up as a personal account or not.  As a councillor this would need you to remain 
mindful of what you are commenting on or posting on social media even when 
addressing family and friends as it is publically available.  Could you run two 
accounts?  A personal account with stricter access settings and a publically 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



 

accessible councillor account?  Are you happy with an assumption that on social 
media you are always acting in your capacity as a councillor? 
 
The updated model introduces a new term ‘Civility’ however the issues covered by 
this term are not necessarily new but an in-depth explanation has been provided.  
The LGA have stated: 
 
Civility 
 
1. Treating other councillors and members of the public with civility.  
 
2. Treating council employees, employees and representatives of partner 
organisations and those volunteering for the councils with civility and respecting the 
role that they play.  
 
Civility means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word. 
Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a 
councillor you can express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, 
opinions and policies in a civil manner. You should not subject individuals, groups of 
people or organisations to unreasonable or excessive personal attack. 
 
In your contact with the public you should treat them courteously. Rude and 
offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in its elected 
representatives. 
 
Does the term civility and subsequent explanation concur with the level of behaviour 
you would expect of an elected member?  Where do you draw the line between 
political debate and drawing officers into politics? 
 
The model code not only sets out the expectation of members to treat others with 
civility, the code goes further and recognises that members should have the same 
expectation to be treated in a civil manner by the public and recognises that you are 
within your right to close down abusive or offensive conversations, report such 
issues to the Council or social media providers if the content is online.  Whilst 
officers would argue members have always been entitled to do just this it has never 
been set out in the Members Code of Conduct before. 
 
Do you think the explanation of civility strengthens an area of the member code of 
conduct which simply says ‘you must treat others with courtesy and respect’? 
 
Sanctions 
 
The model code of conduct refers to an ‘internal resolution procedure’, this 
recommendation is covered by the Local Protocol for the Assessment and 
Determination of Breaches of the Members Code of Conduct.  The protocol sets how 
a complaint will be dealt with, however the model code goes a little further and sets 
out potential sanctions which escalate in nature depending on the nature of the 
complaint.  The Council have previously used some of the sanctions listed however 
having a range identified is helpful.  There are two possible sanctions that are 
relatively new and we have historically perceived as not within the gift of the 

Page 4



 

Monitoring Officer or Standards Committee as they are appointments made by 
political groups: 
 

 Where of a serious nature, a bar on chairing advisory or special committees 
for up to two months  

 Where of a serious nature, a bar on attending committees for up to two 
months  

 
Do Members believe these are sanctions that the Standards Committee should 
impose or should it be a recommendation to a group leader, albeit this would only be 
feasible if the subject member was part of a group?  Do these sanctions for 
complaints of a serious nature provide Standards with some of the ‘teeth’ that was 
available under the old regime? 
 
General Comments 
 
The above are the main revisions to the proposed model code of conduct and as a 
Council we would not be obliged to adopt it but the model would be held up as best 
practice and would provide consistency across the whole of local government. 
 
What are your views on the language of the code overall, is it easier to read and 
understand than our code (less legal speak), do you think the public would 
understand it better? 
 
 
Reference documents: 
 
Local Government Ethical Standards: A Review by the Committee on Standards in 
Public Life: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government
_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF  

Page 5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/777315/6.4896_CO_CSPL_Command_Paper_on_Local_Government_Standards_v4_WEB.PDF


   

Page 1 of 9 
 

 

The Local Government Association Model Member Code of Conduct 
Consultation Draft 

 

LGA introduction 
The LGA is providing this Model Member Code of Conduct as part of its work on supporting 
the sector to continue to aspire to high standards of leadership and performance. 

 
The role of councillors is a vital part of our country’s system of democracy. In voting for a 
local councillor, the public is imbuing that person and position with their trust. As such, it is 
important that councillors can be held accountable and adopt the behaviors and 
responsibilities associated with their role. The conduct of an individual councillor affects the 
reputation of all councillors. We want the role of councillor to be one that people aspire to 
and want to participate in. We want to attract individuals from a range of backgrounds and 
circumstances who understand the responsibility they take on and are motivated to make a 
positive difference to their local communities. 

 
All councils are required to have a local Member Code of Conduct. This Model Member 
Code of Conduct has been developed in consultation with the sector and is offered as a 
template for councils to adopt in whole and/or with local amendments. The LGA will 
undertake an annual review of the Code to ensure it continues to be fit-for-purpose, 
particularly with respect to advances in technology, social media and any relevant changes 
in legislation. The LGA can also offer support, training and mediation to member councils 
and councillors on the application of the Code. 

 
Introduction 
As a Councillor you represent local residents, work to develop better services and deliver 
local change. The public have high expectations of you and entrust you to represent 
everyone (in your ward/town/parish), taking decisions fairly, openly, transparently and with 
civility. You should also be treated with civility by members of the public, other councillors 
and council employees. Members have both individual and collective responsibility to 
maintain these standards, support expected behaviour and challenge behaviour which falls 
below expectations. 

 

Purpose 
The purpose of this Code of Conduct is to assist councillors in modelling the behaviour that 
is expected of them, to provide a personal check and balance, and to set out the type of 
conduct against which appropriate action may be taken. It is also to protect yourself, the 
public, fellow councillors, council officers and the reputation of local government. It sets out 
the conduct expected of all Members and a minimum set of obligations relating to conduct. 
The overarching aim is to create and maintain public confidence in the role of Member and 
local government. 

 
Application of the Code 
The Code of Conduct applies to you when you are acting [or claiming or giving the 
impression that you are acting]i in [public or in]ii your capacity as a Member or representative 
of your council, although you are expected to uphold high standards of conduct and show 
leadership at all times. The Code applies to all forms of Member communication, including 
written, verbal, non-verbal, electronic and social media, [including where you could be 
deemed to be representing your council or if there are potential implications for the council’s 
reputation.]iii Model conduct and expectations is for guidance only, whereas the specific 
obligations set out instances where action will be taken. 

 
The seven principles of public life 

Page 6

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 1



   

Page 2 of 9 
 

Everyone in public office at all levels – Ministers, civil servants, Members, council officers – 
all who serve the public or deliver public services should uphold the seven principles of 

Page 7



   

Page 3 of 9 
 

public lifeiv. This Code has been developed in line with these seven principles of public life, 
which are set out in appendix A. 

 
 

Model Member conduct 
In accordance with the public trust placed in me, on all occasions I will: 
• act with integrity and honesty 
• act lawfully 
• treat all persons with civility; and 
• lead by example and act in a way that secures public confidence in the office of 

Councillor 
 

In undertaking my role, I will: 
• impartially exercise my responsibilities in the interests of the local community 
• not improperly seek to confer an advantage, or disadvantage, on any person 
• avoid conflicts of interest 
• exercise reasonable care and diligence; and 
• ensure that public resources are used prudently and in the public interest 

 

Specific obligations of general conduct 
This section sets out the minimum requirements of Member conduct. Guidance is included to 
help explain the reasons for the obligations and how they should be followed. These 
obligations must be observed in all situations where you act [or claim or give the impression 
that you are acting] as a councillor [or in public], including representing your council on 
official business and when using social media. 

 
As a Councillor I commit to: 

 
Civility 

 
1. Treating other councillors and members of the public with civility. 

 
2. Treating council employees, employees and representatives of partner organisations 

and those volunteering for the councils with civility and respecting the role that they 
play. 

 

Civility means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the written word. Debate 
and having different views are all part of a healthy democracy. As a councillor you can 
express, challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a civil 
manner. You should not subject individuals, groups of people or organisations to 
unreasonable or excessive personal attack. 

 
In your contact with the public you should treat them courteously. Rude and offensive 
behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and confidence in its elected representatives. 

 
In return you have a right to expect courtesy from the public. If members of the public are 
being abusive, threatening or intimidatory you are entitled to close down any conversation in 
person or online, refer them to the council, any social media provider or if necessary, the 
police. This also applies to Members, where action could then be taken under the Member 
Code of Conduct. 

 
Bullying and harassment 

 

Page 8



   

Page 4 of 9 
 

3. Not bullying or harassing any person. 

Page 9



   

Page 5 of 9 
 

Bullying may be characterised as offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting behaviour, an 
abuse or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, denigrate or injure the 
recipient. The bullying might be a regular pattern of behaviour or a one-off incident, happen 
face-to-face, on social media, in emails or phone calls, happen in the workplace or at work 
social events and not always be obvious or noticed by others.v 

 
The Equality Act 2010 defines harassment as “unwanted conduct related to a relevant 
protected characteristic, which has the purpose or effect of violating an individual’s dignity or 
creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for that 
individual”. The relevant protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, 
race, religion or belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

 
Impartiality of officers of the council 

 
4. Not compromising, or attempting to compromise, the impartiality of anyone who 

works for, or on behalf of, the council. 
 

Officers work for the council as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless they are 
political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a way that would 
undermine their neutrality. Although you can question officers in order to understand, for 
example, their reasons for proposing to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that 
they have written, you must not try and force them to act differently, change their advice, or 
alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their professional integrity. 

 
Confidentiality and access to information 

 
5. Not disclosing information given to me in confidence or disclosing information 

acquired by me which I believe is of a confidential nature, unless I have received the 
consent of a person authorised to give it or I am required by law to do so. 

 
6. Not preventing anyone getting information that they are entitled to by law. 

 

Local authorities must work openly and transparently, and their proceedings and printed 
materials are open to the public except in certain circumstances. You should work on this 
basis but there will be times when it is required by law that discussions, documents and 
other information relating to or held by the council are treated in a confidential manner. 
Examples include personal data relating to individuals or information relating to ongoing 
negotiations. 

 
Disrepute 

 
7. Not bringing my role or council into disrepute. 

 
Behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or deceitful can bring your council into disrepute. 
As a Member you have been entrusted to make decisions on behalf of your community and 
your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than that of ordinary members of 
the public. You should be aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on other 
councillors and/or your council. 

 

Your position 
 

8. Not using, or attempting to use, my position improperly to the advantage or 
disadvantage of myself or anyone else. 

Page 10



   

Page 6 of 9 
 

Your position as a Member of the council provides you with certain opportunities, 
responsibilities and privileges. However, you should not take advantage of these 
opportunities to further private interests. 

 
Use of council resources and facilities 

 

9. Not misusing council resources. 
 
You may be provided with resources and facilities by the council to assist you in carrying out 
your duties as a councillor. Examples include office support, stationery and equipment such 
as phones, and computers and transport. These are given to you to help you carry out your 
role as a councillor more effectively, not to benefit you personally. 

 
Interests 

 
10. Registering and declaring my interests. 

 
You need to register your interests so that the public, council employees and fellow 
Members know which of your interests might give rise to a conflict of interest. The register is 
a document that can be consulted when (or before) an issue arises, and so allows others to 
know what interests you have, and whether they might give rise to a possible conflict of 
interest. The register also protects you. You are responsible for deciding whether or not you 
should declare an interest in a meeting, but it can be helpful for you to know early on if 
others think that a potential conflict might arise. 

 
It is also important that the public know about any interest that might have to be declared by 
you or other Members, so that decision making is seen by the public as open and honest. 
This helps to ensure that public confidence in the integrity of local governance is maintained. 
Discuss the registering and declaration of interests with your Monitoring Officer/Town or 
Parish Clerk and more detail is set out in appendix B. 

 
Gifts and hospitality 

 

11. Not accepting significant gifts or hospitality from persons seeking to acquire, develop 
or do business with the council or from persons who may apply to the council for any 
permission, licence or other significant advantage. 

 
12. Registering with the Monitoring Officer any gift or hospitality with an estimated value 

of at least £25 within 28 days of its receipt. 
 
You should exercise caution in accepting any gifts or hospitality which are (or which you 
reasonably believe to be) offered to you because you are a Member. However, you do not 
need to register gifts and hospitality which are not related to your role as a Member, such as 
Christmas gifts from your friends and family, or gifts which you do not accept. However, you 
may wish to notify your Monitoring Officer of any significant gifts you are offered but refuse 
which you think may have been offered to influence you. 

 
Breaches of the Code of Conduct 
Most councillors conduct themselves appropriately and in accordance with these standards. 
Members have both individual and collective responsibility to maintain these standards, 
support expected behaviour and challenge behaviour which falls below expectations. 

 
Section 27 of the Localism Act 2011 requires relevant authorities to promote and maintain 
high standards of conduct by Members and co-opted Members of the authority. Each local 

Page 11



   

Page 7 of 9 
 

authority must publish a code of conduct, and it must cover the registration of pecuniary 

Page 12



   

Page 8 of 9 
 

interests, the role of an ‘Independent Person’ to advise on and investigate alleged breaches, 
and sanctions to be imposed on any councillors who breach the Code. 

 
The 2011 Act also requires local authorities to have mechanisms in place to investigate 
allegations that a Member has not complied with the Code of Conduct, and arrangements 
under which decisions on allegation may be made. 

 
Failure to comply with the requirements to register or declare disclosable pecuniary interests 
is a criminal offence. Taking part in a meeting or voting, when prevented from doing so by a 
conflict caused by disclosable pecuniary interests, is also a criminal offence. 

 

Political parties may have its own internal standards and resolution procedures in addition to 
the Member code of conduct that Members should be aware of. 

 
Note – items in square brackets [x] refer to recommendations made by the Committee on 
Standards in Public Life and may be part of a future Government consultation. This includes 
possible future sanctions and appeals processes. 

 
 

LGA Guidance and recommendations 
 

Internal resolution procedure 
 

Councils should have in place an internal resolution procedure to address conduct that is in 
breach of the Member Code of Conduct. The internal resolution process should make it clear 
how allegations of breaches of the Code of Conduct are to be handled, including the role of 
an Independent Person, the appeals process and can also include a local Standards 
Committee. The internal resolution procedure should be proportionate, allow for Members to 
appeal allegations and decisions, and allow for an escalating scale of intervention. The 
procedure should be voted on by the Council as a whole. 

 
In the case of a non-criminal breach of the Code, the following escalating approach can be 
undertaken. If the breach is confirmed and of a serious nature, action can be automatically 
escalated. 

 
1. An informal discussion with the Monitoring Officer or appropriate senior officer 
2. An informal opportunity to speak with the affected party/ies 
3. A written apology 
4. Mediation 
5. Peer support 
6. Requirement to attend relevant training 
7. Where of a serious nature, a bar on chairing advisory or special committees for up to 

two months 
8. Where of a serious nature, a bar on attending committees for up to two months 

 

Where serious misconduct affects an employee, a Member may be barred from contact with 
that individual; or if it relates to a specific responsibility of the council, barred from 
participating in decisions or information relating to that responsibility. 

 
 

 

i CSPL recommend that “Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 should be amended to state that a local 
authority’s code of conduct applies to a Member when they claim to act, or give the impression they are 
acting, in their capacity as a Member or as a representative of the local authority”. 

Page 13



   

Page 9 of 9 
 

 
 

ii CSPL recommend that “councillors should be presumed to be acting in an official capacity in their public 
conduct, including statements on publicly accessible social media. Section 27(2) of the Localism Act 2011 
should be amended to permit local authorities to presume so when deciding upon code of conduct breaches.” 
iii Subject to footnotes 1 and 2 above 
iv See CSPL website for further details https://www.gov.uk/government/news/the-principles-of-public-life-25- 
years 
v acas’s definition of bullying. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 14

http://www.gov.uk/government/news/the-principles-of-public-life-25-


Code Appendix A 
 

The principles are1: 
 

 
Selflessness 
Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

 

 
Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to people or 
organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. They should not 
act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material benefits for themselves, their 
family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve any interests and relationships. 

 

 
Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, using the 
best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

 

 
Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions and 
must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

 

 
Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent manner. 
Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear and lawful reasons 
for so doing. 

 

 
Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 
 

 
Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour. They should 
actively promote and robustly support the principles and be willing to challenge poor 
behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1              Https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 2

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life/the-7-principles-of-public-life


Code Appendix B 

 

 

 

Registering interests 

1. Within 28 days of this Code of Conduct being adopted by the council or your election 
or appointment to office (where that is later) you must register with the Monitoring 
Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Table A (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) and Table B (Other Registerable Interests). 

 

 
2. You must ensure that your register of interests is kept up-to-date and within 28 days 

of becoming aware of any new interest in Table A or B, or of any change to a 
registered interest, notify the Monitoring Officer. 

 

 
Declaring interests 

3. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to an interest in Table A, 
you must declare the interest, not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter 
and must not remain in the room unless granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’, you do not have to declare the nature of the interest. 

 

 
4. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to an interest in Table B, 

you must declare the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the 
public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in 
any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you 
have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to 
declare the nature of the interest. 

 

 
5. Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or 

well-being (and is not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) or a financial interest or well- 
being of a relative or close associate, you must declare the interest. You may speak 
on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting 
but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not 
remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’, you do not have to declare the nature of the interest. 

 

 
6. Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 

c. a body covered by table 1 below 

you must disclose the interest. 

Page 16



 

7. Where the matter affects the financial interest or well-being to a greater extent than it 
affects the financial interests of the majority of inhabitants of the ward affected by the 
decision and a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe 
that it would affect your view of the wider public interest you must declare the 
interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed 
to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on 
the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a 
dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’, you do not have to declare the nature of the 
interest. 

 
 
 
 

Table 1: Interests described in the table below. 
 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 

[Any unpaid directorship.] 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 
from the Council) made to the Councillor during the previous 12- 
month period for expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out his/her 
duties as a Councillor, or towards his/her election expenses. 

 This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 

  
Contracts Any contract made between the Councillor or his/her spouse or civil 

partner or the person with whom the Councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (or a firm in which such person is a partner, or 
an incorporated body of which such person is a director* or a body 
that such person has a beneficial interest in the securities of*) and the 
Council — 

 (a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are 
to be executed; and 

 (b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land and Property Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council. 

‘Land’ excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over 
land which does not give the Councillor or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the Councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners (alone or jointly with another) a right to occupy 
or to receive income. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate 
tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to the Councillor’s knowledge)— 

Page 17

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&amp;linktype=ref&amp;&amp;context=48&amp;crumb-action=replace&amp;docguid=I5FE396B0E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/app/document?src=doc&amp;linktype=ref&amp;&amp;context=48&amp;crumb-action=replace&amp;docguid=I5FE396B0E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB


 

 

 (a) the landlord is the Council; and 

 (b) the tenant is a body that the Councillor, or his/her spouse or civil 
partner or the person with whom the Councillor is living as if they were 
spouses/civil partners is a partner of or a director* of or has a 
beneficial interest in the securities* of. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where— 

 (a) that body (to the Councillor’s knowledge) has a place of business 
or land in the area of the Council; and 

 (b) either— 

 (i) the total nominal value of the securities* exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 

 (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the Councillor, 
or his/her spouse or civil partner or the person with whom the 
Councillor is living as if they were spouses/civil partners has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class. 

 

*’director’ includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident 
society. 

*’securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 
2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building 
society. 

Table B 

(i) Any body of which you are a member or in a position of general control or 
management and to which you are appointed or nominated by the council; 

(ii) Any body— 

(a) exercising functions of a public nature; 

(b) directed to charitable purposes; or 

(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion 
or policy (including any political party or trade union) 

of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management. 

Page 18



THIS FORM IS FOR INFORMATION ONLY - DO NOT COMPLETE 

PLEASE USE THE ONLINE SURVEY FORM TO SUBMIT YOUR RESPONSE 

 
LGA Consultation on Draft Model Member Code of Conduct 
 

Thank you for taking the time to complete this consultation. This Model Member Code of 

Conduct [Model Member Code of Conduct.pdf] aims to be concise, written in plain English and 

be understandable to members, officers and the public. The Model Member Code is designed to 

aid members in all tiers of local government model the behaviours and high standards that 

anyone would expect from a person holding public office.  Equally, it articulates behaviour which 

falls below the standards that would be expected of council members. It is designed to help set 

a framework for public and councillor interaction, emphasising the importance of civility and that 

councillors should be protected from bullying, intimidation and abuse.    

    

The LGA has reviewed the existing Model Member Code of Conduct and updated it here 

incorporating the recommendations from the Committee on Standard’s in Public Life’s 

recommendations on Local Government Ethical Standards and the representation from its 

membership. Part of the Committee’s recommendations were the introduction of sanctions for 

breaches of the code, alongside an appeals process. This aspect is out of scope of this 

consultation, as it requires legislative changes by Government, but the LGA has sought to 

reflect some of the possible changes by using square brackets where legal changes would be 

necessary. The LGA is continuing to take soundings from the sector on the issue of sanctions in 

anticipation of a Government response to the Committee’s recommendations.   

    

This consultation addresses key areas that the LGA would like a view on to help finalise the 

Code. It is aimed at councillors and officers from all tiers of local government. If you would like a 

wider discussion about the code, please do sign up to one of the forthcoming Webinars the LGA 

are holding as part of this consultation. Details will be posted on our LGA events website.    

  

Instructions and privacy notice 

 

You can navigate through the questions using the buttons at the bottom of each page.  Use the 

'previous' button at the bottom of the page if you wish to amend your response to an earlier 

question.  

 

All responses will be treated confidentially. Information will be aggregated, and no individual or 

authority will be identified in any publications without your consent. Identifiable information may 

be used internally within the LGA but will only be held and processed in accordance with 

our privacy policy. We are undertaking this consultation to aid the legitimate interests of the LGA 

in supporting and representing authorities. 

  

Please complete your response in one go - if you exit before submitting your response your 

answers may be lost. If you would like to see an overview of the questions before completing 

the consultation online, you can access a PDF here. 

  

  

Page 19

Agenda Item 5
Appendix 3

https://research.local.gov.uk/CP/File.php?F=F_3C1SVkKMNJlVi1T
https://www.local.gov.uk/events
http://www.local.gov.uk/privacy-policy-0


 

About you 

 

 

Your name ________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Are you... 

o A councillor  

o An officer  

o Answering on behalf of a whole council (Please provide council name below)  

________________________________________________ 

o Other (please specify below)  

________________________________________________ 

 

 

Please indicate your council type 

o Community/Neighbourhood/Parish/Town  

o District/Borough  

o County  

o Metropolitan/Unitary/London Borough  

o Other (please specify below)  

________________________________________________ 

 

 

Application of the Code   

    

Under the Localism Act 2012, the Code of Conduct applies to councillors only when they are 

acting in their capacity as a member. The LGA believes that because councillors are elected by 

the public and widely recognised by the public, it makes sense for them to continue to model 

these behaviours when they are making public comment, are identifying as a councillor and 

when it would be reasonable for the public to identify them as acting or speaking as a councillor. 

The Committee on Standards in Public Life supported this approach in their report into Local 

Government Ethical Standards. Whilst the LGA is waiting for Government’s response to these 

recommendations the option has been added in square brackets as it would need changes in 

legislation.  

 

Page 20



 

Q1. To what extent do you support the proposal that councillors demonstrate the 

behaviours set out in the Code when they are publicly acting as, identifying as, and/or 

giving the impression that they are acting as a councillor, including when representing 

their council on official business and when using social media? 

o To a great extent  

o To a moderate extent  

o To a small extent  

o Not at all  

o Don't know/prefer not to say  

 

 

Q1a. If you would like to elaborate on your answer please do so here: 

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Q2. Is it sufficiently clear which parts of the Model Code are legal requirements, which 

are obligations, and which are guidance? 

o Yes  

o No  

o Don't know  

 

 

Q3. Do you prefer the use of the personal tense, as used in the Code, or would you prefer 

the passive tense? 

o Personal tense (“I will”)  

o Passive tense (“Councillors should”)  

o No preference  

 

 

Specific obligations   

    

The Code lists 12 specific obligations – these set out a minimum standard councillors are asked 

to adhere to.   

Page 21



 

Each obligation or group of obligations is put into a wider context to explain why that particular 

obligation is important. 

 

Q4. To what extent to you support the 12 specific obligations? 

 

 
To a great 

extent 
To a 

moderate 
extent 

To a small 
extent 

Not at all Don't know 
/ Prefer not 

to say 

1. Treating other councillors and 
members of the public with 
civility.  

     

2. Treating council employees, 
employees and representatives 
of partner organisations and 
those volunteering for the 
councils with civility and 
respecting the role that they 
play.  

     

3. Not bullying or harassing any 
person.  

     

4. Not compromising, or 
attempting to compromise, the 
impartiality of anyone who 
works for, or on behalf of, the 
council.  

     

5. Not disclosing information 
given to me in confidence or 
disclosing information acquired 
by me which I believe is of a 
confidential nature, unless I 
have received the consent of a 
person authorised to give it or I 
am required by law to do so.  

     

6. Not preventing anyone 
getting information that they are 
entitled to by law.  

     

7. Not bringing my role or 
council into disrepute.  

     

8. Not using, or attempting to 
use, my position improperly to 
the advantage or disadvantage 
of myself or anyone else.  

     

Page 22



 

9. Not misusing council 
resources.  

     

10. Registering and declaring 
my interests.  

     

11. Not accepting significant 
gifts or hospitality from persons 
seeking to acquire, develop or 
do business with the council or 
from persons who may apply to 
the council for any permission, 
licence or other significant 
advantage.  

     

12. Registering with the 
monitoring officer any gift or 
hospitality with an estimated 
value of at least £25 within 28 
days of its receipt.  

     

 

 

 

Q5. If you would like to propose additional or alternative obligations, or would like to 

provide more comment on a specific obligation, please do so here: 

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Q6. Would you prefer to see the obligations as a long list followed by the guidance, or as 

it is set out in the current draft, with the guidance after each obligation? 

o As a list  

o Each specific obligation followed by its relevant guidance  

o No preference  

 

Page 23



 

Q7. To what extent to you think the concept of ‘acting with civility’ is sufficiently clear?  

o To a great extent  

o To a moderate extent  

o To a small extent  

o Not at all  

o Don't know/prefer not to say  

 

 

Q7a. If you would like to suggest an alternative phrase that captures the same meaning, 

or would like to provide a comment on this concept, please do so here:   

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Q8. To what extent do you think the concept of ‘bringing the council into disrepute’ is 

sufficiently clear? 

o To a great extent  

o To a moderate extent  

o To a small extent  

o Not at all  

o Don't know/prefer not to say  

 

 

Q8a. If you would like to suggest an alternative phrase that captures the same meaning, 

or would like to provide a comment on this concept, please do so here:  

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page 24



 

Q9. To what extent do you support the definition of bullying and harassment used in the 

code in a local government context? 

o To a great extent  

o To a moderate extent  

o To a small extent  

o Not at all  

o Don't know/prefer not to say  

 

Q9a. If there are other definitions you would like to recommend, please provide them 

here. 

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

Q10. Is there sufficient reference to the use of social media? 

o Yes  

o No  

o Don't know/prefer not to say  

 

 

Q10a. Should social media be covered in a separate code or integrated into the overall 

code of conduct? 

o Separate code  

o Integrated into the code  

o Don't know/prefer not to say  

 

 

Q10b. If you would like to make any comments or suggestions in relation to how the use 

of social media is covered in the code please do so here: 

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

Page 25



 

Registration and declarations of interests   

    

The law at present requires, as a minimum, registration and declaration of ‘Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests’ - that is matters which directly relate to the councillor and their partner if 

applicable.   

    

The LGA is proposing that all councillors are required to declare interests where matters also 

relate to or affect other family members or associates. The LGA has broadened the requirement 

to declare interests beyond this current statutory minimum in line with a recommendation from 

the Committee on Standards in Public Life.  These specific provisions are set out in Appendix 

B of the Code. 

 

 

Q11. To what extent to you support the code going beyond the current requirement to 

declare interests of the councillor and their partner? 

o To a great extent  

o To a moderate extent  

o To a small extent  

o Not at all  

o Don't know/prefer not to say  

 

 

Q11a. If you would like to elaborate on your answer please do so here: 

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Q12. Should the requirement to declare interests be in the main body of the code or in 

the appendix where the draft model code currently references it? 

o In the main body of the code  

o In the appendix  

o Other (please specify below)  

o Don't know/prefer not to say  

 

Page 26



 

Q12a. If you would like to make any comments or suggestions in relation to how the 

requirement to declare interests is covered in the code please do so here: 

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

It is also suggested that more outside interests should be registered than is the current statutory 

minimum. These are set out in Table 2 of the Appendix and are designed to demonstrate to 

the community transparency about other bodies with which the councillor is engaged. 

 

Q13. To what extent do you support the inclusion of these additional categories for 

registration?  

 

 
To a 
great 
extent 

To a 
moderate 

extent 

To a 
small 
extent 

Not at 
all 

Don't know 
/ Prefer not 

to say 

Any organisation, association, society 
or party of which you are a member or 
in a position of general control or 
management and to which you are 
appointed or nominated by the council  

     

Any organisation, association, society 
or party that exercises functions of a 
public nature of which you are a 
member or in a position of general 
control or management  

     

Any organisation, association, society 
or party directed to charitable purposes  

     

Any organisation, association, society 
or party of whose principal purposes 
includes the influence of public opinion 
or policy (including any political party or 
trade union)  

     

 

 

Q13a. If you would like to propose additional or alternative categories for registration, please 

provide them here: 

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

Page 27



 

Q14. To what extent to you support the proposed requirement that councillors do not 

accept significant gifts as set out in Obligation 11? 

o To a great extent  

o To a moderate extent  

o To a small extent  

o Not at all  

o Don't know/prefer not to say  

 

 

Q14a. If you would like to elaborate on your answer please do so here: 

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Q15. The draft code proposes £25 as the threshold for registering gifts and hospitality. Is 

this an appropriate threshold? 

o Yes  

o Yes, but the amount should be reviewed annually with the code’s review  

o No, it should be lower (please specify amount) ____________________ 

o No, it should be higher (please specify amount) ___________________ 

o Don't know/prefer not to say  

 

 

Q16. The LGA will be producing accompanying guidance to the code. Which of the 

following types of guidance would you find most useful? Please rank 1-5, with 1 being 

the most useful. 

______ Regularly updated examples of case law 

______ Explanatory guidance on the code 

______ Case studies and examples of good practice 

______ Supplementary guidance that focuses on specific areas, e.g., social media 

______ Improvement support materials, such as training and e-learning packages 

 

 

Page 28



 

Q16a. If you would like to suggest any other accompanying guidance please do so here: 

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Q17. If you would like to make any further comments about the code please so here: 

________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 
________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Once you press the 'Submit' button below, you will have completed your response.   

    

Many thanks for taking the time to respond to this consultation. You are in control of any 

personal data that you have provided to us in your response. You can contact us at all times to 

have your information changed or deleted. You can find our full privacy policy here: click here to 

see our privacy policy 

Page 29

http://www.local.gov.uk/privacy-policy-0
http://www.local.gov.uk/privacy-policy-0

	Agenda
	5 Model Code of Conduct Briefing Paper
	2020.3.20 LGA Consultation Draft Model Member Code of Conduct
	2020.3.20 Appendices A-B LGA Consultation Draft Model Member Code of Conduct
	pdf version code of conduct consultation questions


